



# MEMORANDUM

DATE	January 19, 2023
то	Veterinary Medical Board (Board)
FROM	Leah Shufelt, RVT, Chair Multidisciplinary Advisory Committee (MDC)
SUBJECT	G. Recommendation on Legislative Proposal to Repeal Business and Professions Code Section 4875.3, Subdivision (b) Regarding Veterinarian Review Criteria H. Recommendation to Add Subject Matter Expert Criteria to the Administrative Procedure Manual

# G. Recommendation Regarding Legislative Proposal to Amend Business and **Professions Code Section 4875.3**

As part of a directive from the Board, the complaint audit subcommittee was tasked to review the current criteria to become an Expert. The goal was to reassess current criteria and make recommendations on any updates and/or changes that may improve the process of identifying qualified Experts.

The complaint audit subcommittee reviewed the only current statute related to Experts (Business and Professions Code section 4875.3) and found they were limited to the following:

b) A veterinarian who reviews and investigates an alleged violation pursuant to Section 4875.2 shall be licensed in or employed by the state either full time or part time and shall not have been out of practice for more than four years.

No other boards have such a statute – which is problematic as it may cause confusion, since it references a gutted statute, and is cumbersome to adjust these requirements in statute (versus a handbook that can be adjusted at any meeting).

# H. Recommendation to Add Subject Matter Expert Criteria to the Administrative Procedure Manual

On the Board's website, there is different criteria listed on the Expert Witness Position Information form that is provided with the application to become an Expert. The criteria currently listed are:

Possess a valid and current California Veterinary License and;

- Have five (5) years of clinical practice experience within the six (6) years immediately preceding application submission and;
- No past or current disciplinary action taken against license in this or any other state

In addition to reviewing these criteria, the Subcommittee was also provided with examples of Expert criteria from other healing arts boards, including the Medical Board of California, Dental Hygiene Board, Board of Registered Nursing, Podiatric Medical Board, Board of Vocational Nurses and Psychiatric Technicians, and Naturopathic Medicine Committee.

Based on this research, the Subcommittee developed the following proposed Expert requirements:

- Possess a valid and current California Veterinary License and;
- At least five years clinical experience in the area of expertise and;
- No past or current enforcement or disciplinary actions taken against their California license and;
- Practicing veterinary medicine as defined in Business and Professions Code §4826 subdivisions (b) through (e) for a minimum of 32 hours a month and;
- In the event of conflict of interest, must recuse themselves from the review and:
- Must not misrepresent their credentials, qualifications, experience, or background.

# **Action Requested**

- 1. Please review and discuss the attached legislative proposal (Attachment 1). If the Board agrees with the MDC's recommendation, please entertain a motion to approve the legislative proposal to amend Business and Professions Code, sections 4875.3 related to Expert reviews.
- 2. Please review and discuss the attached proposed change to the Administrative Procedures Manual (Attachment 2). If the Board agrees with the MDC's recommendations, please entertain a motion to approve the proposal to amend the Administrative Procedures Manual relating to Expert criteria.

# Attachment

- 1. Legislative Proposal
- 2. Proposed Changes to Administrative Procedures Manual

# VETERINARY MEDICAL BOARD LEGISLATIVE PROPOSAL TO AMEND BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE SECTION 4875.3

Additions are indicated in single underline.

Deletions are indicated in single strikethrough.

Amend Business and Professions Code section 4875.3 as follows:

#### 4875.3.

(a) If the board determines, as a result of its inspection of the premises pursuant to Section 4809.5, or any other place where veterinary medicine, veterinary dentistry, veterinary surgery, or the various branches thereof is practiced, or that is otherwise in the possession of a veterinarian for purpose of that practice, that it is not in compliance with the standards established by the board, the board shall provide a notice of any deficiencies and provide a reasonable time for compliance with those standards prior to commencing any further action pursuant to this article. The board may issue an interim suspension order pursuant to Section 494 in those cases where the violations represent an immediate threat to the public and animal health and safety.

(b) A veterinarian who reviews and investigates an alleged violation pursuant to Section 4875.2 shall be licensed in or employed by the state either full time or part time and shall not have been out of practice for more than four years.

# Veterinary Medical Board State of California



# Board and Committee Member Administrative Procedure Manual

(Rev: January 2023)

# Table of Contents

Mission/Vision	5
Overview	5
Chapter 2 – Board Meeting Procedures	
Frequency of Meetings	6
Board Member Attendance at Board Meetings	6
Board Member Participation	6
Public Notice/Information at Board Meetings	6
Quorum	7
Agenda Items	7
Notice of Meetings	7
Record of Board Meetings	7
Webcast	7
Meetings Rules	7
Veterinary Student Liaisons	8
Chapter 3 – Travel & Salary Policies/Procedures	
Travel Approval	8
Travel Arrangements	8
Out-of-State Travel	8
Travel Claims	8
Salary Per Diem	9
Travel Reimbursement and Payment of Salary Per Diem	9
Chapter 4 – Other Policies/Procedures	
Board Member Disciplinary Actions	10
Removal of Board Members	10
Resignation of Board Members	10
Officers of the Board	10

Election of Officers	10
Officer Vacancies	10
Access to Board Files and Records	11
Communications with Other Organizations/Individuals	11
Legal Opinions – Requests from Outside Parties	11
Board Staff	11
Board Administration	11
Examination Preparation	11
Correspondence	12
Ethics Training	12
Contact with Licensees	12
Contact with Complainant/Respondent	12
Gifts from Candidates	12
Conflict of Interest	12
Chapter 5 - Board President	
Supervision of Executive Officer	13
Performance Appraisal of Executive Officer	13
Chapter 6 – Executive Officer	
Appointment	14
Role	14
Recruitment	14
Selection	14
Chapter 7 – Board Committees	
Standing Committees	14
Committee Appointments	. 14-15
Attendance at Public Committee Meetings	15
Meeting Rules	15
Committee Meeting Agendas/Public Notice	15

Record of Committee Meetings	15
Recruitment	15
Staff Participation	15
Video Recording	16
Executive Committee	16
Advisory and Ad Hoc Board Committees	16
Multidisciplinary Advisory Committee (MDC)	16
Chapter 8 – Association Membership	
AAVSB	17
ICVA	17
Chapter 9 – Enforcement	
Subject Matter Expert Criteria	17
Complaint Disclosure	17
Disciplinary Actions	17
Public Posting	18
Licensee Disciplined in Other States	18
Holding or Rejecting a Stipulated Settlement or Proposed Decision	18
Petition for Reconsideration	19
Petition for Modification of Penalty or Reinstatement	20
Ex Parte Communications	23
Chapter 10 – Continuing Education (CE)	
CE Course Evaluation/Waiver Requests	21
Chapter 11 – Abbreviations and Acronyms	
Agencies	21
Codes	21
Organizations	21
Chapter 12 – Conclusion	21

Cha	er 13 – References	22	2
-----	--------------------	----	---

# CHAPTER 1

#### Introduction

#### Mission

The mission of the Veterinary Medical Board (Board) is to protect consumers and animals by regulating licensees, promoting professional standards, and diligent enforcement of the California Veterinary Medicine Practice Act (Practice Act).

#### Vision

The vision of the Board is to create an environment in which Californians have access to high-quality veterinary care for all animals.

#### Overview

The Board was created in 1893 as a licensing program. Licensing is used to regulate veterinarians and protect the public in all fifty states, territories, and Canada.

The Board is one of a number of boards, bureaus, commissions, and committees within the Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA), part of the Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency under the auspices of the Governor. DCA is responsible for consumer protection and representation through the regulation of licensed professions and the provision of consumer services. While DCA provides administrative oversight and support services, the <u>Board</u> sets its own policies, procedures, and regulations.

The Board is comprised of eight members. Four licensed veterinarians, three public members and one registered veterinary technician (RVT). The Governor appoints four veterinarian members, one RVT and one public member. The Senate Rules Committee and the Speaker of the Assembly each appoint one public member. Board members may serve up to two full four-year terms. In addition to the two full four-year terms, Board members may serve the partial term of the vacant position to which they are appointed and up to a one-year grace period after a term expires. Board members fill non-salaried positions but are paid per diem for each Board meeting, committee meeting and other meetings approved by the President of the Board. Travel expenses are also reimbursed.

This procedure manual is updated as necessary and provided to <u>B</u>oard and committee members as a ready reference of important laws, regulations, DCA policies and <u>Board</u> policies. It is designed to help guide the actions of the Board and committee members and ensure effectiveness and efficiency.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

Business and Professions (B&P) Code section 4808 Board policy - The requirement to meet is in B&P Code. The frequency of the meetings is determined by the Board.

**Board Policy** 

**Board Policy** 

Government (Gov.) Code section 11120 et. seq.

# **Board Meeting Procedures**

## **Frequency and Location of Meetings**

The Board meets at least four times annually to make policy decisions and review committee recommendations. Special meetings may be called at any time by the Board President or by any four members of the Board, upon notice of such time and in such manner as the Board may provide.

The Board endeavors to hold meetings in different geographic locations throughout the state when possible as a convenience to the public and licensees.

In accordance with B&P Code section 101.7, boards shall meet at least two times each calendar year and at least once in northern California and once in southern California.

# **Board Member Attendance at Board Meetings**

Board members must attend each meeting of the Board. If a member is unable to attend, he/she is asked to contact the Board President or the Executive Officer and ask to be excused from the meeting for a specific reason. For purposes of petition hearings, Board members are required to be physically present at the Board meeting and are unable to participate via teleconference.

# **Board Member Participation**

The Board President may contact members who have missed three consecutive meetings to determine the reason they have been absent and whether or not the member is able to continue serving as an active member of the Board. In some cases, the President may suggest that the member consider resigning.

The Board, by resolution, may request in writing to the appointing authority that a member be replaced. The member shall be notified in writing of such proposed action and be given the opportunity to present to the Board his/her written or oral arguments against such action prior to the Board adopting the resolution.

# **Public Notice/Information at Board Meetings**

Meetings are subject to all provisions of the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act. This act governs meetings of the State regulatory boards and meetings of committees of those boards where the committee consists of more than two members. It specifies meeting notice and agenda requirements and prohibits discussing or taking action on matters not included in the agenda. Any general discussion of exams or disciplinary procedures shall be held in public.

The Board may meet in closed session to discuss examinations, deliberate on enforcement cases, review examination issues where a public discussion would compromise the integrity of the examination, a disciplinary

case, or a personnel issue. If the agenda contains matters that, on advice of legal counsel, are appropriate for closed session, the agenda shall cite the particular statutory section and subdivision authorizing the closed session.

#### Quorum

B&P Code section 4807

Five members of the Board constitute a quorum for transaction of business at any meeting of the board. At a meeting duly held at which a quorum of five members is present, a concurrence of three members of the Board present shall be necessary to constitute an act or decision of the Board.

# Agenda Items

**Board Policy** 

Agenda items are generally discussed and agreed upon at a full board meeting. Additional agenda items for a Board meeting from any source, including Board members, must be submitted to the Executive Officer at least 21 days prior to the meeting. The Executive Officer may confer with the Board President prior to adding items to the meeting agenda.

## **Notice of Meetings**

Gov. Code section 11120 et. seq.

According to the Open Meeting Act, meeting notices (including agendas for Board meetings) must be sent to persons on the Board's mailing list and posted on the Board's Web site at least ten (10) calendar days in advance. The notice must include a staff person's name, work address, and work telephone number to provide further information prior to the meeting.

# **Record of Board Meetings**

**Board Policy** 

The minutes are a detailed summary of each Board meeting, not a transcript. Board minutes must be approved at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. Once approved, the minutes serve as the official record of the meeting.

# Webcast

Gov. Code section 11124.1 et. seq.

Whenever feasible, the Board shall webcast its meetings. An archive of the meeting shall be available for review on the DCA Web site. If webcast is not feasible at a particular meeting site, the Board will post minutes of the meeting on its Web site once the minutes are approved by the Board.

Any audio or video recording of an open and public meeting made for whatever purpose by or at the direction of the Board shall be subject to inspection pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1).

# **Meetings Rules**

**Board Policy** 

The Board will use Robert's Rules of Order to the extent that it does not conflict with State law (e.g., Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act), as a guide when conducting the meetings.

The Vice President of the Board may serve as meeting parliamentarian.

**Board Policy** 

# **Veterinary Student Liaisons**

The Board President may appoint Veterinary Student Liaisons to the Board to increase communication and collaboration with the veterinary student community and receive feedback from the students on how the Board may improve its initial licensing processes and educate students on statutes and regulations impacting the profession.

A Veterinary Student Liaison can be any student regularly enrolled in the professional Veterinary curriculum at any California school, which is accredited by the American Veterinary Medical Association to confer the degree of Doctor of Veterinary medicine or an equivalent degree in veterinary medicine and possesses strong demonstrable ethical and moral qualifications. Each California school may have one Veterinary Student Liaison. The Veterinary Student Liaison must be elected by their respective school in the fall, at the beginning of each school year.

The Veterinary Student Liaisons will not serve as voting members or participate in Closed Session portions of the meeting, but they will have the opportunity to participate in Board discussion during public agenda items and provide a student report to the Board during Board meetings. The Veterinary Student Liaisons are not entitled to per diem or travel reimbursements from the Board.

## **CHAPTER 3**

# Travel & Salary Policies/Procedures

DCA Memorandum 91-26

# **Travel Approval**

Board members must have Board President approval for all travel, including out-of-state travel, except for regularly scheduled Board and Committee meetings to which the Board member is assigned.

The Board President and the Executive Officer must use the Board's annual budget and DCA Travel Guidelines when considering travel requests.

**Board Policy** 

# **Travel Arrangements**

Board members should attempt to make their own travel arrangements, including airfare, lodging, and rental cars. Board members should use the State contract airline, Southwest, whenever possible. Once appointed and all paperwork is completed by DCA, Board Members will be assigned a CalATERS login. Board Administrative Staff will assist in setting up a profile for each member through the Statewide Travel Program "Travel Store".

## **Out-of-State Travel**

SAM section 700 et seq.

All out-of-state travel for all persons representing the State of California must be approved by the Board President and is ultimately controlled and approved by the Governor. Once approved for out-of-state travel, Board members will be

reimbursed actual lodging expenses, supported by vouchers, and will be reimbursed for meal and supplemental expenses. Travel prior to approval by the Governor is at the individual Board or Committee member's own risk and reimbursement may be denied.

B&P Code section 103 Board Policy

# Salary Per Diem and Travel Reimbursement

Board members attending meetings or events to perform a substantial Board-related service are paid salary per diem and reimbursed for travel-related expenses. Attendance at gatherings, events, hearings, conferences or meetings other than official Board or Committee meetings shall be approved in advance by the Board President and the Executive Officer.

Board members are paid such time as is expended from the commencement of a Board or Committee meeting to the conclusion of that meeting. Where it is necessary for a Board member to leave early from a meeting, the Board President shall determine if the member has provided a substantial service during the meeting and, if so, shall authorize payment of salary per diem and reimbursement for travel-related expenses.

Unless it is an unanticipated emergency, Board members must get prior approval from the Board President to leave a meeting early. Because the Board only meets four times a year, Board members are expected to make every effort to stay for the duration of the meeting and make their travel arrangements accordingly.

For Board-specified work, Board members are compensated for actual time spent performing work authorized by the Board President. That work includes authorized attendance at other gatherings, events, meetings, hearings, or conferences.. Compensation does not include case review and Board meeting preparation.

Members must submit time sheet summary forms for actual work performed outside a Board meeting in order to be compensated.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

#### Other Policies/Procedures

**Board Policy** 

# **Board Member Disciplinary Actions**

A member may be censured by the Board if, after a hearing before the Board, the Board determines that the member has acted in an inappropriate manner.

The Board President shall sit as chair of the hearing unless the censure involves the President's own actions, in which case the Board Vice President shall sit as chair. In accordance with the Public Meeting Act, the censure hearing shall be conducted in open session. B&P Code sections 106 and 106.5

#### **Removal of Board Members**

The Senate, Assembly, and Governor has the power to remove from office at any time any member of any board appointed by him/her for continued neglect of duties required by law or for incompetence or unprofessional or dishonorable conduct.

The Senate, Assembly, and Governor may also remove from office a board member who directly or indirectly discloses examination questions to an applicant for examination for licensure.

**Resignation of Board Members** 

In the event that it becomes necessary for a Board member to resign, a letter shall be sent to the appropriate appointing authority (Governor, Senate Rules Committee, or Speaker of the Assembly) with the effective date of the resignation. Written notification is required by state law. A copy of this letter shall also be sent to the director of the Department, the Board President, and the Executive Officer.

Officers of the Board

The Board shall elect from its members a President and a Vice President to hold office for one or two years, or until their successors are duly elected and qualified.

**Election of Officers** 

The Board and MDC may elect the officers at their respective Fall meetings to serve a term of one year, beginning on January 1. Officers may be re-elected for one consecutive term. All officers may be elected on one motion or ballot as a slate of officers unless objected to by a Board/MDC member. Elections are usually scheduled for the Fall Board/MDC meeting with new officers assuming office in at the next regularly scheduled board meeting.

**Officer Vacancies** 

If the Office of the President becomes vacant, the Vice President assumes the office as the interim President and the Board holds an election for both positions at the next scheduled Board meeting.

**Access to Board Files and Records** 

No Board member may access a licensee, applicant, or complaint file without the Executive Officer's knowledge and approval of the conditions of access. Records or copies of records must not be removed from the Board's office.

**Communications with Other Organizations/Individuals** 

The Executive Officer, his or her designee, or the Board President serve as spokesperson to the media on Board actions, policies, or any communications that is deemed sensitive or controversial, to any individual or organization. Any Board member who is contacted by any of the above

Gov. Code section 1750

B&P Code section 4804

**Board Policy** 

**Board Policy** 

**Board Policy** 

**Board Policy** 

should terminate the contact and inform the Executive Officer or the Board President.

Gov. Code section 6250 et seq.

Written communications between a Board/MDC member and the public are disclosable records under the California Public Records Act, unless an exemption to disclosure applies.

**Board Policy** 

# **Legal Opinions - Requests from Outside Parties**

The Board does not provide legal services for persons or entities outside the Board staff. Requests for legal opinions from outside entities are to be discussed with the Board President and Legal Counsel to determine whether it is an issue over which the Board has jurisdiction and the opinion, if prepared, could be posted on the Board's Web site and benefit the general public rather than one individual. Persons making such requests would be notified that the Board will not be responding directly to their request but will post the opinion on the Internet when it is final.

**DCA Reference Manual** 

#### **Board Staff**

Employees of the Board, with the exception of the Executive Officer, are civil service employees. Their employment, pay, benefits, discipline, termination, and conditions of employment are governed by a myriad of civil service laws and regulations and often by collective bargaining labor agreements. Because of this complexity, it is most appropriate that the Board delegate all authority and responsibility for management of the civil service staff to the Executive Officer.

**DCA Reference Manual** 

#### **Board Administration**

Board members should be concerned primarily with formulating decisions on Board policies rather than decisions concerning the means for carrying out a specific course of action. It is inappropriate for Board members to become involved in the details of program delivery. Strategies for the day-to-day management of programs and staff shall be the responsibility of the Executive Officer under the supervision of the Board President.

#### **Examination Preparation**

Each person having access to examination content shall sign a security agreement.

# Correspondence

B&P Code section 110

Originals of all correspondence received must be maintained in the Board's office files. Copies of such correspondence must be given to the Executive Officer and/or Board members as required.

#### **Training**

**Board Policy** 

All required training for continuing and new Board members will be accomplished in accordance with state employment law and DCA policies.

**Board Policy** 

**Contact with Licensees** 

Board members must not intervene on behalf of a licensee for any reason. They should forward all contacts or inquiries to the Executive Officer.

DCA Reference Manual

Contact with Complainant/Respondent

Board members should not directly participate in complaint handling and resolution or investigations. To do so would subject the Board member to disqualification in any future disciplinary action against the licensee. If a Board member is contacted by a complainant/respondent or his/her attorney, they should refer the individual to the Executive Officer or Board staff.

Board Policy

Gifts from Candidates

Gifts of any kind to Board or Committee members or the staff from candidates for licensure with the Board are not permitted.

**Conflict of Interest** 

on Conflicts of interest or disqualification issues mainly arise from four general sources: (1) financial conflicts arising under the Political Reform Act of 1974 (Gov. Code § 87100 et seq.); (2) common law conflicts of interest arising from personal interest or bias, or even the potential appearance of a bias or personal interest in a matter even in the absence of a financial conflict of interest; (3) the general provisions of BPC section 450 et

No Board member may make, participate in making or in any way attempt to use his or her official position to influence a governmental decision in which he or she knows or has reason to know he or she has a financial or personal interest. Any Board member who has a financial or personal interest shall disqualify himself/herself from making or attempting to use his/her official position to influence the decision.

seq. that detail the qualifications and restrictions on public members of a board; and (4) conflicts arising under the DCA Incompatible Work Activities policy.

Any Board member who feels he or she is entering into a situation where there is a potential for a conflict of interest should immediately consult the Executive Officer or Board President.

Gov. Code section 87100; Common Law; B&P Code section 450 et seq.;

DCA Incompatible Work Activities

#### **CHAPTER 5**

#### **Board President**

The duties of the Board President include, but are not limited to:

B&P Code section 4804.5 Board Policy

# **Supervision of Executive Officer**

The Board may appoint a person exempt from civil service who shall be designated as an Executive Officer and who shall exercise the powers and perform the duties delegated by the Board and vested in him or her.

The incoming Board President assumes all delegated duties at the next quarterly meeting, including supervision of the Executive Officer.

The Board President is the immediate supervisor of the Executive Officer. Specific instructions for work on Board policy matters by the Executive Officer from Board members shall be coordinated through the Board President.

It is critical that individual Board members not intervene or become involved in specific the day-to-day board office operations. However, it is also critical that the board hold the Executive Officer accountable for supervising these operations, including workload issues, staff vacation and sick leave balances, labor/personnel disputes, personnel actions, budgets, etc.

Tracking the Executive Officer's performance and accountability throughout the year is accomplished by direct and frequent oral, written, and in person communications between the Executive Officer and the Board President. In addition, the Executive Officer is responsible for keeping the full Board informed throughout the year (when appropriate) as to occurrences and information that come to the office in between meetings.

Gov. Code section 11126(a)(4) Board Policy

# **Performance Appraisal of Executive Officer**

The Board evaluates its Executive Officer on an annual basis. At the Spring Board meeting, the Board President, or his/her designee, requests that each Board member complete and submit an "Executive Management Appraisal" document as input to the Executive Officer's annual performance appraisal. The completed forms shall be mailed directly back to the Board President or his/her designee. The input from individual members shall be used to prepare a draft appraisal for review at the first meeting of the fiscal year.

The written summary performance appraisal is presented to the Board and the Executive Officer at its Summer Board meeting. Following review and discussion by the full Board, the appraisal shall be discussed with the Executive Officer. Actions requiring corrective measures shall include specific remedies and reporting timeframes. Matters relating to the performance of the Executive Officer are discussed by the Board in closed session unless the Executive Officer requests that it be discussed in open session.

#### **CHAPTER 6**

#### **Executive Officer**

## **Appointment**

B&P Code section 4804.5

The Board appoints an Executive Officer who is exempt from civil service and serves at the pleasure of the Board.

#### Role

California Code of Regulations (CCR) section 2003

The Executive Officer implements the policies developed by the Board and carries out the tasks delegated by the Board.

## Recruitment

**Board Policy** 

The Board may institute an open recruitment plan to obtain a pool of qualified Executive Officer candidates. It may also utilize proven equal employment opportunity and personnel recruitment procedures.

#### Selection

Gov. Code section 11125 Board Policy A qualified candidate for Executive Officer must demonstrate the ability to supervise employees, handle conflict resolution and complaint mediation, and conduct public speaking. The Executive Officer must also demonstrate effective written and verbal communication skills and knowledge and expertise in the areas of legislation, regulations, administration, examination, licensing, enforcement, legislation and budgets. The selection of a new Executive Officer is included as an item of business, which must be included in a written agenda and transacted at a public meeting.

#### **CHAPTER 7**

# **Board Committees**

# **Board Policy**

# **Standing Committees**

The committee meetings are held as needed at the direction of the full Board and are fully within the scope of the Open Meeting Act. In light of the Board's limited resources, these meetings are a cost-efficient and legal means of gathering information for discussion by the full Board, which enhances the process of the Board's public meetings and addresses the needs of the profession and consumers in California.

# **Committee Appointments**

**Board Policy** 

The Board President establishes committees, whether ad hoc or special, as he or she deems necessary. The Board President determines committee composition and member appointments, including, but not limited to, liaison appointments. When necessary, committee members may make recommendations for new members.

Ad hoc committees may include the appointment of non-Board members. When appointing non-Board members, all impacted parties should be represented.

Gov. Code section 11122.5(c)(6)

Gov. Code section 11122(c)

# **Attendance at Public Committee Meetings**

Non-committee Board members may sit in the audience and participate in meeting discussions, unless there is a quorum of Board members in the room. If there is a quorum present of five members, non-committee Board members may sit in the audience, but may not participate in the meeting discussions.

# **Meeting Rules**

Committee meetings are conducted under Robert's Rules of Order to the extent that it does not conflict with the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act.

Committees with two members can meet as necessary without a public notice and can hold teleconference meetings with the designated staff person participating in the teleconference as necessary.

Committee meetings involving three or more members are subject the Open Meeting Act Requirement and must be noticed as a public meeting.

Board Policy

**Board Policy** 

# Committee Meeting Agendas/Public Notice (3 members)

Agendas should focus on the specific tasks assigned by the Board and include:

- Public comment
- Time for committee members to recommend new areas of study to be brought to the Board's attention for possible assignment.
- Only those information items dealing with subjects assigned to the respective committee.

If more than two Board members attend a Committee meeting, the agenda shall contain the statement: "Notice of a Board meeting indicates that three or more members of the Board are present. While the law requires the Board to notice this meeting as a Board meeting, it is not the intent to take action as a Board at this meeting."

# **Board Policy**

#### **Record of Committee Meetings**

As with the Board meetings, the minutes are a summary, not a transcript, of each committee meeting. Committee minutes may be approved at the next scheduled Board meeting and serve as the official record of the meeting.

Approved minutes of the open session are available for distribution to the public and shall be posted on the Board's Web site.

# Recruitment

**Board Policy** 

The Board members may assist in recruiting interested persons to serve on committees, e.g., examination item writing, item reviewing, and Angoff workshops.

Board Policy

**Staff Participation** 

The Executive Officer and Staff Service Managers (SSM) will provide advice, consultation and support to Committees.

**Board Policy** 

**Executive Committee** 

The Executive Committee shall consist of the President and the Vice President. The Executive Committee handles time-sensitive policy issues related to budgets, legislation, and regulatory issues that may surface necessitating immediate Board input. The Executive Committee shall report any action it takes on a particular matter to the full Board at the next Board meeting.

**Board Policy** 

**Advisory and Ad Hoc Board Committees** 

Board committees are advisory in nature, recommend actions to the Board, and are established by the Board as needed. Committee recommendations and reports shall be submitted to the Board for consideration and possible action.

B&P Code section 4809.8

**Multidisciplinary Advisory Committee** 

The Veterinary Medicine Multidisciplinary Advisory Committee (MDC) is a statutory committee that was created to assist, advise, and make recommendations for the implementation of rules and regulations necessary to ensure proper administration and enforcement of the Practice Act and to assist the Board in its examination, licensure, and registration programs.

The MDC consists of nine (9) members: four licensed veterinarians, two registered veterinary technicians, one public member, and two liaisons of the Board, a veterinarian and the registered veterinary technician. The public member shall not be a licentiate of the Board or of any other board under this division or of any board referred to in Sections 1000 and 3600.

The members of the MDC hold office for a term of three years and shall be staggered. Committee members may serve up to two full three-year terms. In addition to the two full three-year terms, Committee members may serve the partial term of the vacant position to which they are appointed and up to a one-year grace period after a term expires. Committee members fill non-salaried positions but are paid per diem and travel expenses for each committee meeting and other meetings approved by the President of the Board.

The Committee meets at least two times per year unless otherwise approved by the Board.

Vacancies to non-liaison members of the MDC are filled by appointment by the Board. The veterinarian liaison member is appointed by the Board President and the registered

veterinary technician liaison is appointed by default (as the sole registered veterinary technician Board member). The Board will remove from office at any time any member of the MDC for continued neglect of any duty, conflict of interest, incompetence, or unprofessional conduct.

Recruitment efforts for upcoming vacancies on the MDC shall begin at least 12 months prior to the expiration of the said term. The Board shall advertise vacancies on its website and shall work with professional associations and other consumer groups to notify the public of the recruitment process. All new applicants seeking a position on the MDC shall submit a letter of interest, along with a resume. curriculum vitae (CV), or both, to the Board. Upon receipt of a letter of interest, Board staff will perform a prospective committee member compliance evaluation to ensure that potential appointees adhere to California's various statutory and regulatory requirements. Interviews may be conducted by telephonic means at the Board's discretion, provided the telephonic participation is duly noticed on the meeting agenda. Upon a majority vote of the Board, the Board may establish an Elections Committee comprised of the Board President and Vice President, to hold interviews for the purpose of making recommendations to the full Board. The selection of an MDC member shall be made at a Board meeting. MDC members seeking reappointment are required to be interviewed.

#### Webcast

Whenever feasible, the MDC shall webcast its meetings. An archive of the meeting shall be available for review on the DCA Web site. If webcast is not feasible at a particular meeting site, the MDC will post minutes of the meeting on its Web site once the minutes are approved by the Board.

Any audio or video recording of an open and public meeting made for whatever purpose by or at the direction of the Board shall be subject to inspection pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1).

#### **Wellness Evaluation Committee**

B&P Code section 4860 et. seq

The Veterinary Medicine Wellness Evaluation Committee (DEC) is a statutory committee that was created to identify and rehabilitate veterinarians and registered veterinary technicians with impairment due to abuse of dangerous drugs or alcohol, affecting competency so that veterinarians and registered veterinary technicians so afflicted may be treated and returned to the practice of veterinary medicine in a manner that will not endanger the public health and safety.

The DEC consists of five (5) members: three licensed veterinarians and two public members. Each person appointed to the DEC shall have experience or knowledge in

the evaluation or management of persons who are impaired due to alcohol or drug abuse.

The members of the DEC hold office for a term of four years. There is no limit to the number of terms each Committee member may serve. Committee members may serve the partial term of the vacant position to which they are appointed and up to a one-year grace period after a term expires. Committee members fill non-salaried positions but are paid per diem and travel expenses for each committee meeting and other meetings approved by the President of the Board. In addition, a Board staff manager serves as the Wellness Program Manager to administer the program and serve as a liaison between the Board and the DEC.

The DEC meets three times per year unless otherwise approved by the Board.

Vacancies occurring are filled by appointment by the Board. The Board will remove from office at any time any member of the DEC for continued neglect of any duty, conflict of interest, incompetence, or unprofessional conduct.

Recruitment efforts for upcoming vacancies on the DEC shall begin at least 12 months prior to the expiration of the said term, if possible. The Board shall advertise vacancies on its website and shall work with professional associations and other consumer groups to notify the public of the recruitment process. All new applicants seeking a position on the DEC shall submit a letter of interest, along with a resume, curriculum vitae (CV), or both, to the Board. Upon receipt of a letter of interest, Board staff will perform a prospective committee member compliance evaluation to ensure that potential appointees adhere to California's various statutory and regulatory requirements. Interviews may be conducted by telephonic means at the Board's discretion, provided the telephonic participation is duly noticed on the meeting agenda. Upon a majority vote of the Board, the Board may establish an Elections Committee comprised of the Board President and Vice President, to hold interviews for the purpose of making recommendations to the full Board. The selection of an DEC member shall be made at a Board meeting. DEC members seeking reappointment are not required to be interviewed, unless requested by the Board.

# **CHAPTER 8**

# AAVSB

Board policy

The Board maintains membership in the American Association of Veterinary State Boards (AAVSB). The Board also strives to maintain representation on the Executive Board of the AAVSB by supporting members interested in participating as an AAVSB board member and attending the annual AAVSB meeting to represent the interests of California.

**Association Membership** 

# Board policy

# **ICVA**

The Board strives to maintain representation on the International Council for Veterinary Assessment. Membership on this board is critical to California since it provides representation in the development and administration of the North American Veterinary Licensing Examination (NAVLE).

# **CHAPTER 9**Board Policy

#### **Enforcement and Information**

# **Subject Matter Expert Criteria**

In order to serve as a subject matter expert (SME) for the Board, a SME must:

- Possess a valid and current California Veterinary License and;
- At least five years clinical experience in the area of expertise and;
- No past or current enforcement or disciplinary actions taken against their California license and;
- Practicing veterinary medicine as defined in Business and Professions Code §4826 subdivisions (b) through (e) for a minimum of 32 hours a month and;
- <u>In the event of conflict of interest, must recuse</u> themselves from the review and;
- <u>Must not misrepresent their credentials</u>, qualifications, experience, or background.

# Board Policy CCR section 2043(f)

#### **Complaint Disclosure**

Complaints are not subject to disclosure. In a citation and fine action, the Board shall provide the public, upon request, with a copy of a final Citation and Fine document. Citations are public information for five (5) years from the date of resolution and are then purged, unless the citation is part of a formal disciplinary matter within five (5) years immediately following the citation order at which part the citation may become part of the permanent enforcement record.

The Board will post citations on the website.

# **Disciplinary Actions**

The Board provides information regarding formal discipline/accusations only after the case has been transferred to the Office of the Attorney General. Board staff makes the following disclosure statement: "An investigation has been conducted and the case has been forwarded to the Attorney General's Office for consideration of possible action. At this time, there has been no determination of wrong-doing."

#### Board policy

An "accusation" is the first public document in any case. The accusation is prepared and filed by the Deputy Attorney General (DAG). Once the accusation is filed, it is a public document and available on written request. If the accusation results in a final order/decision, once the decision is final, it is also available to the public upon written request.

All final decisions by the Board following formal disciplinary proceedings of alleged violations of the Practice Act shall be published on the Board's Web site and in its newsletter after the effective date of the decision. Final decisions shall be reported to the National Disciplinary Database within 30 days of the effective date.

**B&P Code section 27** 

# **Public Posting**

The Board shall disclose the status of every license, registration, and permit, the address of record for all licensees, registrants, and permit holders, and information on enforcement actions on its website through DCA's License Search portal.

**Board Policy** 

# Holding or Rejecting a Stipulated Settlement or Proposed Decision

As a general rule, most stipulated settlements and proposed decisions are well reasoned, consistent with the board's disciplinary guidelines, and may be adopted consistent with sound public policy. If they are not, consider rejecting (or "nonadopting") such decisions. If it is difficult to make that determination, however, stipulated settlements and proposed decisions should be held for closed session discussion.

# Consider rejecting a Stipulated Settlement or an ALJ's Proposed Decision in these circumstances:

- The stipulated settlement or Proposed Decision does not provide sufficient public protection given the nature of the violations. For example, important terms of probation are missing, the probationary period is too short, probation is not appropriate, or other significant unexplained deviations from your board's disciplinary guidelines.
- 2. The ALJ made an error in the Proposed Decision in applying the relevant standard of practice for the issues in controversy at the hearing.
- 3. The ALJ made an error in interpreting law and/or regulations in the Proposed Decision.

# <u>Consider holding a case for closed session discussion</u> when:

 You are unsure whether the stipulated settlement or proposed decision protects the public and would like to discuss the merits with other board members.

- 2. You are unsure about the ALJ's reasoning and description. (Proposed Decision)
- 3. If you believe a discussion of the practice issues with licensee members may make it easier for you to make a decision.
- 4. If you are unsure whether the ALJ's decision is consistent with the law. (Proposed Decision)
- 5. After discussion with the assigned board attorney, you still have questions about the case.

Typically, a vote to hold any Proposed Decision for closed session discussion requires a hold vote by two (2) or more Board members.

Gov. Code section 11521 Board Policy

#### **Petition for Reconsideration**

Eligibility to Petition for Reconsideration is limited to Proposed Decisions. A Petition for Reconsideration is the first step available to a party in contesting a final order. The Board may order Reconsideration of all or part of the case on its own motion or on Petition of any party.

The process, generally, is as follows:

- Petition for Reconsideration is submitted to the Board by Respondent.
  - If additional time is needed to evaluate the Petition filed prior to the expiration of the applicable periods provided under Government Code section 11521(a), the Executive Officer will issue a 10-day Stay of Decision.
- The Board reviews the Petition to determine if it will issue an Order Granting Reconsideration or Order Denying Reconsideration.

#### Denial of a Petition for Reconsideration

 If the Board takes no action on the Petition, votes to DENY the Petition, or if there are insufficient votes to reach a quorum in favor of the petition, the Decision and Order will remain as issued and will become effective as originally ordered.

#### Grant of a Petition for Reconsideration

- If the Board votes to GRANT the Petition for Reconsideration, the Decision and Order will NOT become effective.
  - When granting the Petition, the Board determines whether to receive oral or written argument or additional evidence. The Board may reconsider the case or remand it to an ALJ.
  - The Order Granting Reconsideration will be sent to the parties, stay the effective date of the Decision indefinitely, and advise the parties

- whether written or oral argument or additional evidence may be submitted by the parties.
- Board staff will order transcripts from the hearing.
- Upon receipt of the transcripts, the Board President will issue an Order Fixing Time for Submission of Written/Oral Argument.
  - Only the Board President has the authority to extend the deadline for submission of Written/Oral Argument.
- Upon close of the Fixed Time for Submission of Written/Oral Argument and receipt of hearing transcripts, the Petition is sent to the Board for review.
  - Written/Oral Argument (Board may choose to accept either or both)
  - Argument/New Evidence (Board may choose to accept either or both)
- The matter will be discussed in closed session at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting during which the Board can decide to:
  - uphold the original decision
    - Order prepared by DCA Legal Counsel
  - reduce the penalty
    - Order prepared by DCA Legal Counsel
  - remand the matter back to the ALJ for taking and evaluation of further evidence
  - Other options according to Government Code Section 11517

# **Petition for Modification of Penalty or Reinstatement**

In petitioning for Modification of Penalty or Reinstatement under B&P Code section 4887 and Government Code section 11522, the petitioner has the burden of demonstrating that he or she is fit to safely engage in the practice of veterinary medicine within the scope of current law and accepted standards of practice.

A Petition for Modification of Penalty or Reinstatement may be filed one year or more from the effective date of the disciplinary decision. However, in accordance with B&P Code section 4887, the Board may deny without a hearing or argument any petition filed within a period of two years from the effective date of the prior decision following a hearing.

The process for filing of a Petition for Modification of Penalty or Reinstatement is as follows:

- Petitioner files the Petition accompanied by all supporting documentation.
- The matter is referred to the Division of Investigation for investigation (Petition for Reinstatement).
- The Petition and investigation report are referred to the Office of the Attorney General for assignment to a Deputy Attorney General.

B&P Code section 4887 Gov. Code section 11522

- The matter is set for hearing before the Board in open session at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting.
- The hearing takes place in open session before the Board and an Administrative Law Judge.
- The Board considers and decides the matter in closed session.
- The Decision and Order is prepared by the Administrative Law Judge.
- The Decision and Order is forwarded to DCA Legal Counsel for review.
- DCA Legal Counsel forwards the Decision and Order to the Board for review and confirmation that the document accurately represents the Board's Decision.
- The Decision and Order is served on Respondent via regular and certified mail.

When the Board considers reinstating the license or registration or modifying a penalty, it may impose terms and conditions as it determines necessary, in accordance with the Disciplinary Guidelines. To reinstate a revoked license or registration or to otherwise reduce a penalty or modify probation shall require a vote of five (5) of the Board members.

## **Ex Parte Communications**

The Administrative Procedure Act prohibits *ex parte* communications, which are communications between a Board member and a party to a pending enforcement action without the participation of other parties to the action. Included in this prohibition are communications of Board members with Board enforcement staff while a proceeding is pending, unless the matter is being discussed for purposes of deciding on a stipulated settlement and the parties to the action have agreed the Board may discuss the stipulated settlement with Board staff.

Occasionally, a license applicant who is being formally denied licensure, or a licensee against whom disciplinary action is being taken, will attempt to directly contact Board members. If the communication is written, the Board member should read only far enough to determine the nature of the communication. Once the Board member realizes it is from a person against whom an action is pending, they should reseal any hardcopy documents and send or forward electronic communications to the Executive Officer for handling.

If a Board member receives a telephone call from an applicant or licensee against whom an action is pending, the Board member should immediately tell the person they cannot speak to them about the matter. If the person insists on discussing the case, the person should be told that the Board member would be required to recuse themselves from any participation in the matter. Therefore, continued discussion is of no benefit to the applicant or licensee.

Gov. Code section 11430.10 et seq.

#### **CHAPTER 10**

# **Continuing Education (CE)**

# **Board policy**

# **CE Course Evaluation/Waiver Requests**

Board and/or committee members may assist staff in evaluating the information provided for CE courses and for a waiver request for purposes of possible denial of license or disciplinary action.

Board members who assist staff in reviewing CE information may need to recuse from voting on any case they reviewed that results in discipline. The information in waiver requests is confidential and care must be taken to return all documentation to the Board office.

#### **CHAPTER 11**

DCA

OAH OAL

# **Abbreviations and Acronyms**

# **Agencies**

**VMB** Veterinary Medical Board **MDC** 

Veterinary Medicine Multidisciplinary Advisory Committee

Department of Consumer Affairs Office of Administrative Hearings Office of Administrative Law

DCA Office of Professional Examination Resources **OPES** 

#### Codes

**B&P** Code Business and Professions Code CAC California Administrative Code CCR California Code of Regulations Gov. Code

Government Code

#### **Organizations**

**AAVSB** American Association of Veterinary State Boards

American Veterinary Medical Association AVMA California Veterinary Medical Association **CVMA** 

CPIL Center for Public Interest Law

International Council for Veterinary Assessment **ICVA** Registry of Accredited Continuing Education RACE Veterinary Information Verifying Agency VIVA

#### **CHAPTER 12**

#### Conclusion

The Board and Committee Member Administrative Procedure Manual serves as a reference for important laws, regulations, DCA policies and Board policies. Its function is to guide the actions of the Board members and ensure Board effectiveness, efficiency, and consistency. Although reviewed by legal counsel, it is not a legal opinion.

# **CHAPTER 13**

# References

Many of the procedures in this manual are specific to the Board. Others are generic for all boards and bureaus within DCA consistent with State law. References for additional information are:

Board Member Orientation and Reference Manual, DCA

# DCA Incompatible Work Activities Policy

Veterinary Medicine Practice Act, B&P Code sections 4800-4917, and CCR, title 16, sections 2000-2087.3. Gov. Code sections 1750, 11120 et seq., 11340 et seq., and 11146 et seq.